AUG | 2022

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST

No. 22-0362

DO NOT REMOVE

ELDERCARE OF JACKSON COUNTY, LLC FROM d/b/a ELDERCARE HEALTH AND REHABILITATION, a Tennessee Company, COMMUNITY HEALTH ASSOCIATION, d/b/a JACKSON GENERAL HOSPITAL, a West Virginia Corporation, and IRVIN JOHN SNYDER, D.O.,

v.

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

ROSEMARY LAMBERT and CAROLYN HINZMAN, individually and as Co-Executrices of the ESTATE OF DELMER FIELDS, Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

Honorable Lora Dyer Circuit Court of Jackson County Civil Action No.: 21-C-32

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Jace H. Goins (WVSB No. 6894)
Christopher S. Etheredge (WVSB No. 13835)
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
P.O. Box 1588

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Circuit Court below erred in denying Petitioners' Motions to Dismiss because Respondents have not and cannot plead any specific allegations demonstrating that Petitioners intended to harm or kill Mr. Fields or the Respondents. Accordingly, Respondents cannot establish that Petitioners committed "intentional conduct with actual malice" and thus have failed as a matter of law to overcome Petitioners' statutory immunity.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a purported wrongful death action which Respondents filed individually and as co-executrices of the estate of their father, Delmer P. Fields (hereinafter "Mr. Fields"). According to Respondents, Mr. Fields contracted COVID-19¹ while admitted at Petitioner Eldercare Health and Rehabilitation (hereinafter "Eldercare") and later died from that infection while admitted at Petitioner Jackson General Hospital (hereinafter "JGH"). Respondents further allege that Petitioner Irvin John Snyder, D.O. (hereinafter "Dr. Snyder") was responsible for Mr. Fields's care at both Eldercare and JGH.

In March 2020, during the earliest stages of the COVID-19 global pandemic,^{2,3} Dr. Snyder was actively treating patients at both JGH and Eldercare. Respondents claim that during this time, Dr. Snyder treated multiple residents of Eldercare for fevers but did not test them for COVID-19 or place them into isolation. *See* Pls.' Compl., JA0011 at ¶ 41. Respondents further allege that on

¹ See W. Va. Code § 55-19-3(2) (defining "COVID-19" or "coronavirus" as "the novel coronavirus identified as SARS-CoV-2, the disease caused by the novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 or a virus mutating therefrom, and conditions associated with the disease").

² The first reported case of COVID-19 in West Virginia was on March 17, 2020. See COVID-19 Daily Update, W. Va. Dep't of Health & Hum. Res. (March 17, 2020), https://dhhr.wv.gov/News/2020/Pages/COVID-19-Daily-Update---March-17%2c-2020.aspx.

³ The first reported death in West Virginia resulting from COVID-19 was not until March 29, 2020. See COVID-19 Update, W. Va. Office of the Governor (March 29, 2020), https://governor.wv.gov/News/press-releases/2020/Pages/COVID-19-UPDATE-Governor-and-First-Lady-Justice-issue-statement-after-learning-of-first-West-Virginian-to-pass-away-from-C.aspx.

April 9, 2020, they began expressing concerns to Eldercare about COVID-19 and its potential impact on Mr. Fields. *See id.*, JA0008 at ¶ 24. Respondents contend that Eldercare and Dr. Snyder intentionally downplayed the severity of a purported "outbreak of COVID-19" at Eldercare. *See id.*, JA0020 at ¶ 94–95.

Respondents allege that on April 13, 2020, Respondent Lambert decided to remove Mr. Fields from Eldercare and bring him home. See id., JA0009 at ¶ 27. However, on April 14, 2020, within 24 hours of leaving Eldercare, Mr. Fields was taken to JGH, where he tested positive for COVID-19. See id. at ¶ 30. According to the Complaint, during his emergency room evaluation, Mr. Fields was discovered to have diminished breath sounds bilaterally with wheezing in the lower lung fields and atelectasis. See id. at ¶ 32. While admitted at JGH, Mr. Fields was treated by Dr. Snyder for a urinary tract infection ("UTI") and placed on oxygen therapy. See id. at ¶ 32. Over the ensuing four days, Mr. Fields's oxygen saturation decreased from 92% to 87%. See id.

Respondents allege that despite Mr. Fields's increasing respiratory distress, Dr. Snyder minimized the impact of Mr. Fields's COVID-19 diagnosis and suggested that Mr. Fields could be discharged back to Eldercare. See id., JA0010 at ¶ 34. On April 18, 2020—while still admitted to JGH—Mr. Fields perished, with a cause of death listed as "multifactorial secondary to complications of aging and dementia exacerbated by acute COVID positive state, UTI with E. coli, and cerebral hemorrhage." Id. at ¶ 35 (emphasis added). Notably, Mr. Fields's death certificate lists his immediate cause of death as "COVID-19." Id.

On May 17, 2021, Respondents filed their Complaint, alleging the following claims: (I) fraud, misrepresentation, and fraudulent concealment, (II) civil conspiracy to commit fraudulent

concealment, (III) breach of duties of care, (IV) elder abuse, (V) violations of the Patient Safety

Act, and (VI) invalidity of an arbitration clause between Mr. Fields and Eldercare.⁴

The Complaint relates solely to medical treatment that Mr. Fields received from Eldercare, JGH, and Dr. Snyder from late March 2020 through the date of his death, April 18, 2020. Respondents acknowledge that JGH and Eldercare were "at the time of the occurrences herein . . . engaged in the business of providing health care services to the public, including [Mr. Fields]," and that Dr. Snyder, "at the times complained of herein, was a physician engaged in the business of providing health care services to the public, including [Mr. Fields]." *Id.*, JA0005–06 at ¶¶ 5–7.

On June 25, 2022, Petitioners JGH and Dr. Snyder jointly filed their Motion to Dismiss, arguing that the West Virginia COVID-19 Jobs Protection Act (hereinafter the "Act") barred Respondents' claims because they all arise from COVID-19 and/or COVID-19 health care services and further setting forth independent grounds for which each of the counts alleged in the Complaint must be dismissed as to JGH and Dr. Snyder. See JGH & Dr. Snyder Mot. to Dismiss, JA0038. On July 6, 2021, Petitioner Eldercare filed its Motion to Dismiss, arguing that the Act barred each of Respondents' claims. See Eldercare Mot. to Dismiss, JA0064.

The Circuit Court heard oral arguments on Petitioners' respective motions to dismiss on October 6, 2021. See Order, JA0206. On April 11, 2022, the Circuit Court entered its Order Denying Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. See id. Therein, the Circuit Court recognized that "Plaintiffs' claims against Defendants arise from and are directly related to COVID-19 and the COVID-19 care and health care services which they provided, or which Plaintiffs allege they

⁴ The Circuit Court below did not make any rulings with respect to the arbitration clause claim. Thus, this appeal does not address Count VI of the Complaint, which would in any case be rendered moot if this Court grants the relief sought herein.

should have provided, to the Decedent in the midst of the COVID-19 global pandemic." *Id.* at JA0214. The Circuit Court's Order went on to find that "[f]or the purposes of the [Act] . . . 'actual malice' requires proof that the defendant acted with the intent to injure or harm the plaintiff and/or decedent." *Id.* at JA0215. Notwithstanding this conclusion, the Circuit Court found that "Plaintiffs have alleged sufficient facts in the Complaint to survive a motion to dismiss." *Id.* at JA0216. Accordingly, the Circuit Court denied Petitioners' respective motions to dismiss. *See id.*

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Counts I through V of the Complaint are barred by the laws of West Virginia as to Petitioners because the Act provides immunity for claims arising from COVID-19 and COVID-19 health care services. Although the Act does contain one exception to the immunities set forth therein, that exception requires proof that a defendant "engaged in intentional conduct with actual malice," which requires specific evidence that the defendant intended to kill or injure the plaintiff or the plaintiff's decedent. Here, Respondents have failed to establish or specifically allege that any of the Petitioners intended to injure or harm Mr. Fields or Respondents. As such, Petitioners are statutorily immune from liability, and Respondents have failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. Accordingly, the judgment of the Circuit Court below should be vacated and the matter remanded with instructions to dismiss the Complaint with prejudice as to each of the Petitioners.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioners request that this matter be set for oral arguments pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because the issues identified herein—namely, the circumstances under which parties are entitled to dismissal under the Act—are issues of first impression for this Court and are of fundamental public importance.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court "reviews a circuit court's denial of a motion to dismiss a complaint under a de novo standard." Hess v. West Virginia Div. of Corrections, 227 W. Va. 15, 17, 705 S.E.2d 125, 127 (2010) (citing Syl. Pt. 4, Ewing v. Bd. of Educ., 202 W. Va. 228, 503 S.E.2d 541 (1998)).

B. Background

On March 19, 2021, Governor Jim Justice enacted the Act, W. Va. Code § 55-19-1, et seq., the express purpose of which is to "[e]liminate the liability of the citizens of West Virginia and all persons including individuals, health care providers, health care facilities, . . . and all persons whomsoever, and to preclude all suits and claims against any persons for loss, damages, personal injuries, or death arising from COVID-19." W. Va. Code § 55-19-2 (emphasis added). The Act arose based, in part, on the West Virginia Legislature's express acknowledgment that COVID-19 related research and developments were evolving so rapidly that it was "difficult, if not impossible," for the medical community "to develop definitive evidence-based medical guidelines." W. Va. Code § 55-19-2(a)(12). The Act was made effective from its passage on March 11, 2021, and it "applies to any cause of action accruing on or after [January 1, 2020]." W. Va. Code § 55-19-9(a).

One of the most significant sections of the Act is a broad immunity provision, which protects a variety of entities and professions, including healthcare providers and healthcare facilities, from COVID-19 related claims. Specifically, the immunity provision states:

⁵ In full, this statutory subsection recognizes that "The diagnosis and treatment of COVID-19 has rapidly evolved from largely unchartered, experimental, and anecdotal observations and interventions, without the opportunity for the medical community to develop definitive evidence-based medical guidelines, making it difficult, if not impossible, to identify and establish applicable standards of care by which the acts or omissions of health care providers can fairly and objectively be measured." W. Va. Code § 55-19-2(a)(12).

[n]otwithstanding any law to the contrary, except as provided by this article, there is <u>no claim</u> against any person, essential business, business, entity, <u>health care facility</u>, <u>health care provider</u>, first responder, or volunteer for loss, damage, physical injury, or <u>death arising from COVID-19</u>, <u>from COVID-19</u> care, <u>or from impacted care</u>.

- W. Va. Code § 55-19-4 (emphasis added). For the purposes of the Act,
 - (1) "Arising from COVID-19" means any act from which loss, damage, physical injury, or death is caused by a natural, direct, and uninterrupted consequence of the actual, alleged, or possible exposure to, or contraction of, COVID-19, including services, treatment, or other actions in response to COVID-19, and without which such loss, damage, physical injury, or death would not have occurred, including, but not limited to:
 - (A) Implementing policies and procedures designed to prevent or minimize the spread of COVID-19;
 - (B) Testing;
 - (C) Monitoring, collecting, reporting, tracking, tracing, disclosing, or investigating COVID-19 exposure or other COVID-19-related information;
 - (D) Using, designing, manufacturing, providing, donating, or servicing precautionary, diagnostic, collection, or other health equipment or supplies, such as personal protective equipment;
 - (E) Closing or partially closing to prevent or minimize the spread of COVID-19:
 - (F) Delaying or modifying the schedule or performance of any medical procedure;
 - (G) Providing services or products in response to government appeal or repurposing operations to address an urgent need for personal protective equipment, sanitation products, or other products necessary to protect the public;
 - (H) Providing services or products as an essential business, health care facility, health care provider, first responder, or institution of higher education; or
 - (I) Actions taken in response to federal, state, or local orders, recommendations, or guidelines lawfully set forth in response to COVID-19.
 - (3) "COVID-19 Care" means services provided by a health care facility or health care provider, regardless of location and whether or not those services were provided in-person or through telehealth or telemedicine, that relate to the testing for, diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of COVID-19, or the assessment, treatment, or care of an individual with a confirmed or suspected case of COVID-19.
 - (7) "Health care" means any act, service, or treatment as defined by § 55-7B-2 of [West Virginia Code];⁶

⁶ "Health care' means: (1) Any act, service or treatment provided under, pursuant to or in the furtherance of a physician's plan of care, a health care facility's plan of care, medical diagnosis or treatment; (2) Any

- (8) "Health care facility" means a facility as defined by § 55-7B-2 of [West Virginia Code] . . .;
- (9) "Health care provider" means a person, partnership, corporation, professional limited liability company, health care facility, entity, or institution as defined by § 55-7B-2 of [West Virginia Code] . . .;8
- (10) "Impacted care" means care offered, delayed, postponed, or otherwise adversely affected at a health care facility or from a health care provider that impacted the health care facility or health care provider's response to, or as a result of, COVID-19 or the COVID-19 emergency . . .

W. Va. Code § 55-19-3 (emphasis added).

The only exception to the Act's broad grant of immunity provides that "the limitations provided in [the Act] shall not apply to any person, or employee or agent thereof, who engaged in intentional conduct with actual malice." W. Va. Code § 55-19-7 (emphasis added).

act, service or treatment performed or furnished, or which should have been performed or furnished, by any health care provider or person supervised by or acting under the direction of a health care provider or licensed professional for, to or on behalf of a patient during the patient's medical care, treatment or confinement, including, but not limited to, staffing, medical transport, custodial care or basic care, infection control, positioning, hydration, nutrition and similar patient services; and (3) The process employed by health care providers and health care facilities for the appointment, employment, contracting, credentialing, privileging and supervision of health care providers." W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(e).

⁷ "Health care facility' means any clinic, hospital, pharmacy, nursing home... regulated or certified by the State of West Virginia under state or federal law and any state-operated institution or clinic providing health care and any related entity to the health care facility." W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(f).

⁸ "'Health care provider' means a person, partnership, corporation, professional limited liability company, health care facility, entity or institution licensed by, or certified in, this state or another state, to provide health care or professional health care services, including, but not limited to, a physician, osteopathic physician, physician assistant, advanced practice registered nurse, hospital, health care facility, dentist, registered or licensed practical nurse, optometrist, podiatrist, chiropractor, physical therapist, speech-language pathologist, audiologist, occupational therapist, psychologist, pharmacist, technician, certified nursing assistant, emergency medical service personnel, emergency medical services authority or agency, any person supervised by or acting under the direction of a licensed professional, any person taking actions or providing service or treatment pursuant to or in furtherance of a physician's plan of care, a health care facility's plan of care, medical diagnosis or treatment; or an officer, employee or agent of a health care provider acting in the course and scope of the officer's, employee's or agent's employment." W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(g).

C. The Circuit Court below erred in denying Petitioners' Motions to Dismiss because Respondents have not pleaded any specific allegations to overcome Petitioners' affirmative defense of statutory immunity.

Respondents have not alleged that any of the Petitioners intended to harm or kill Mr. Fields or Respondents. In point of fact, based upon the facts asserted in the Complaint, Respondents could never establish that Petitioners acted with a specific intent to harm any individual. Accordingly, Respondents have failed as a matter of law to overcome Petitioners' statutory immunity, and the Complaint against them must be dismissed.

Under West Virginia law, a complaint should be dismissed when the plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. See W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). More specifically, a motion to dismiss should be granted "where it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations." Albright v. White, 202 W. Va. 292, 297, 503 S.E.2d 860, 865 (1998). However, "a plaintiff may not 'fumble around searching for a meritorious claim within the elastic boundaries of a barebones complaint," or where the claim is not authorized by the laws of West Virginia." State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W. Va. 770, 776, 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995) (emphasis added) (citations omitted) ("A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) enables a circuit court to weed out unfounded suits."). In determining whether the complaint states a viable claim, "a trial court is free to ignore legal conclusions, unsupported conclusions, unwarranted inferences and sweeping legal conclusions cast in the form of factual allegations." Forshey v. Jackson, 222 W. Va. 743, 756, 671 S.E.2d 748, 761 (2008) (citing Franklin D. Cleckley, Robin J. Davis, & Louis J. Palmer, Jr., Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure § 12(b)(6)[2], at 347 (footnote omitted)).

While it is true that West Virginia has not adopted the more prescriptive federal pleading standards announced by the United States Supreme Court in *Twombly* and *Iqbal*, it is clear as a

general principle that a plaintiff must do more than simply recite a claim accompanied by a bare assertion that the defendant is liable in damages for it. See Highmark West Virginia, Inc. v. Jamie, 221 W. Va. 487, 491, 655 S.E.2d 509, 513 n.4 (2007) ("Under Rule 8 [of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure], a complaint must be intelligibly sufficient for a circuit court or an opposing party to understand whether a valid claim is alleged and, if so, what it is.") (quoting McGraw, 194 W. Va. at 776, 461 S.E.2d at 522); Fass v. Nowsco Well Service, Ltd., 177 W. Va. 40, 52, 479 S.E.2d 339, 351 (1996) (noting that in order to survive a motion to dismiss, "essential material facts must appear on the face of the complaint.").

However, in cases involving statutory immunity, "the entitlement is an *immunity from suit* rather than a mere defense to liability; and like absolute immunity, it is effectively lost if the case is erroneously permitted to go to trial." *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 147, 479 S.E.2d 649, 657 (1996) (emphasis in original) (quoting *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 526, 105 S. Ct. 2806, 2815 (1985)). Indeed, "The very heart of the immunity defense is that it spares the defendant from having to go forward with an inquiry into the merits of the case." *Hutchison*, 198 W. Va. at 148, 479 S.E.2d at 658 (emphasis added); *see also Dimon v. Mansy*, 198 W. Va. 40, 47, 479 S.E.2d 339, 346 at n.5 (1996) ("[T]he singular purpose of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion is to seek a determination whether the plaintiff is entitled to offer evidence to support the claims made in the complaint."). Accordingly, this Court has long held that "the need for early resolution in cases ripe for summary disposition is particularly acute when the defense is in the nature of an immunity." *Hutchison*, 198 W. Va. at 147, 479 S.E.2d at 657 (emphasis added).

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