EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 22-0362

ELDERCARE OF JACKSON COUNTY, LLC D/B/A ELDERCARE HEALTH AND REHABILITATION, a Tennessee Company; COMMUNITY HEALTH ASSOCIATION D/B/A JACKSON GENERAL HOSPITAL, a West Virginia Corporation; IRVIN JOHN SNYDER, D.O.; and DOE DEFENDANTS 1-5,



Defendants' Below/Petitioners,

v.

Civil Action No. CC-18-2021-C-32 Honorable Lora Dyer Circuit Court of Jackson County

ROSEMARY LAMBERT and CAROLYN HINZMAN, Individually, and as Co-Executrices of the ESTATE OF DELMER P. FIELDS,

Plaintiffs Below/Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS WITH CROSS ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Kelly Elswick-Hall (W.V. Bar No. 6578)

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In their brief, the Petitioners do not address the primary issue—the proper interpretation of the language of the statutory exception to immunity enacted in W.Va. Code § 55-19-7. Petitioners simply presume their interpretation of the exception is the correct one, when it is not.¹ The Circuit Court undertook an analysis of the language of the exception in light of West Virginia case law, and adopted the standard for intentional and malicious conduct stated in *Hayseeds, Inc. v. State Farm Fire & Casualty*, 177 W. Va. 323, 330–31, 352 S.E.2d 73, 80–81 (1986), a case cited and argued by the Petitioners in their briefing:

18

¹ It is unclear whether Petitioners agree with the interpretation of the standard enunciated by the Circuit Court, as they do not address it directly in their brief. Petitioners' learned counsel may have done this as a matter of strategy, in order to use its reply brief to address the core issues in the case, so that the Respondents will not be able to address the specific arguments Petitioners make. Respondents are entitled to fair chance to respond to Petitioners' arguments on appeal.

By "actual malice" we mean that the company actually knew that the policyholder's claim was proper, but willfully, maliciously and intentionally denied the claim. We intend this to be a bright line standard, highly susceptible to summary judgment for the defendant, such as exists in the law of libel and slander, or the West Virginia law of commercial arbitration. See, e.g., NY. Times v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S.Ct. 710, 11 L.Ed.2d 686 (1964) and Board of Education v. Miller, 160 W.Va. 473,236 S.E.2d 439 (1977). Unless the policyholder is able to introduce evidence of intentional injury- not negligence, lack of judgment, incompetence, or bureaucratic confusion-the issue of punitive damages should not be submitted to the jury.

The Circuit Court correctly determined that Respondents' complaint states a claim upon which relief may be granted under the Circuit Court's interpretation of the exception.

However, while the Circuit Court expressly adopted the standard in *Hayseeds*, which by its language as quoted by the Circuit Court would <u>not</u> require a specific intent to kill plaintiffs' decedent, the Circuit Court then said "actual malice" requires proof that the defendant acted with the intent to injure or harm the plaintiff and/or decedent. This and other language in the order, along with a reading of *Hayseeds*, create somewhat of an ambiguity. Therefore, the Petitioners presume that the statute requires specific intent to kill plaintiffs' decedent. This interpretation of the statute is not consistent with applicable common law and, if it were accepted, would render the statute unconstitutional.

Consequently, should the Circuit Court's order require specific intent to kill plaintiffs' decedent, as presumed by the Petitioners, then the Circuit Court erred in its interpretation of the statute.

In addition, the Circuit Court noted that Respondent did not intend to attack the constitutionality of the statute and, therefore, the Court's Order did not address any potential constitutional issues that may or may not arise from the passage of the Act. The Circuit Court's characterization was not complete in this regard. It is correct that the Respondents were not requesting that the statute be declared unconstitutional *per se*. Instead, Respondents/Plaintiffs Below argued that their proffered interpretation of the statute would be constitutional, whereas the standard proffered by the Petitioner/ Defendants Below would render the statute unconstitutional. Since the Respondents do not wish to waive that argument, Respondents assert a second cross-assignment of error. Consequently, should the standard require specific intent to kill plaintiffs' decedent, as presumed by the Petitioners, then the statute would be unconstitutional.

The facts pleaded show that the Petitioners knew that residents were symptomatic with COVID, and that it was proper to test them and isolate them, but willfully, maliciously and intentionally did neither. The facts pleaded show that the Petitioners knew that residents were positive for COVID, and it was proper to tell employees, but willfully, intentionally and maliciously lied to employees so that those employees exposed other fragile residents, including Delmer Fields, to COVID. The facts pleaded show that Petitioners knew that COVID was running rampant through its facility, and it was proper to tell government authorities, Delmer Fields and the Respondent family member, but willfully, intentionally and maliciously did not. The facts pleaded show that the Petitioners knew that Delmer Fields had COVID, and that it was proper to treat his increasing respiratory distress, but willfully, intentionally and maliciously did not, instead intentionally downplaying it and representing that he was okay to be discharged from the hospital right before he died. These satisfy the standard for intentional conduct and actual malice as stated in *Hayseeds*, which was the standard adopted by the Circuit Court, and satisfies standards discussed in other relevant case law.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondents agree with Petitioners that a Rule 20 oral argument is appropriate in this case because of the novelty and importance of the issues in this case.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Review of Motion to Dismiss Under WVRCP 12(b)(6)

The standard for a trial court's review of a defendant's motion to dismiss made pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure is well-established:

The trial court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief.

Syllabus, Flowers v. City of Morgantown, 166 W. Va. 92, 272 S.E.2d 663 (1980); accord Syllabus Point
2, Stricklen v. Kittle, 168 W. Va. 147, 287 S.E.2d 148 (1981); Fass v. Nowsco Well Service, Ltd., 177
W. Va. 50, 350 S.E.2d 562 (1986); Syllabus Point 3, Wilhelm v. West Virginia Lottery, 198 W. Va. 92,
479 S.E.2d 602 (1996); Howell v. City of Princeton, 210 W. Va. 735, 559 S.E.2d 424 (2001). Further,

the West Virginia Supreme Court has stated that:

[b]ecause of our policy of favoring the determination of actions on the merit[s], we generally view motions to dismiss with disfavor, and therefore, construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and consider its allegations as true.

Wilhelm, 198 W. Va. at 96, 479 S.E.2d 606 (emphasis added) (citations omitted). Accord, Sesco v. Norfolk and Western Ry. Co., 189 W.Va. 24, 427 S.E.2d 458 (1993) (per curiam); Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co., Inc., 160 W.Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977); John W. Lodge Distrib. Co. v. Texaco, Inc., 161 W.Va. 603, 245 S.E.2d 157 (1978); Stricklen v. Kittle, 168 W.Va. 147, 287 S.E.2d 148 (1981). Facial plausibility of plaintiff's claims is established where the facts alleged in the complaint "allow[] the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged" and this context- specific test does not require "detailed factual allegations," Conklin v. Jefferson Cty. Bd. of Educ., 205 F. Supp. 3d 797, 803 (N.D.W. Va. 2016). Accepting the facts in Respondents' complaint as true, Respondents have stated a cause of action upon which relief may be granted.

B. The COVID Act does not create total immunity.

The COVID act at W.Va. Code § 55-19-4, enacted on March 11, 2021, states:

Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, except as provided by this article, there is no claim against any person, essential business, business, entity, health care facility, health care provider, first responder, or volunteer for loss, damage, physical injury, or death arising from COVID-19, from COVID-19 care, or from impacted care.

(Emphasis added.) The substantive provisions of the COVID act provide for liability under multiple circumstances. W.Va. Code § 55-19-5 preserves liability of product suppliers who:

(1) Had actual knowledge of a defect in the product when put to the use for which the product was manufactured, sold, distributed, or donated; and acted with conscious, reckless, and outrageous indifference to a substantial and unnecessary risk that the product would cause serious injury to others; or (2) Acted with actual malice.

W.Va. Code § 55-19-6 preserved the rights of workers to file Workers' Compensation claims for contraction of COVID.

Importantly, W.Va. Code § 55-19-7 expressly provides that:

Excluding the provisions of § 55-19-5 and § 55-19-6 of this code, the limitations on liability provided in this article shall not apply to any person, or employee or agent thereof, who engaged in intentional conduct with actual malice. (Emphasis added.)

C. Respondents can maintain a cause of action against the Petitioners.

As such, the Respondents here can maintain a cause of action against the Petitioners under the statute if they have pleaded facts which state, or facts from which it can be inferred, that the Petitioners have engaged in intentional conduct with actual malice. As pointed out by the Circuit Court, the West Virginia Legislature did not include a definition of the phrase "intentional conduct with actual malice" in the Act.

Therefore, the Circuit Court was tasked with defining, ""intentional conduct with actual malice." An analysis and definition of the terms are critical because that definition determines the sufficiency of Respondents' complaint. However, the Petitioners do not undertake any such analysis in their briefing to this Court. Instead, Petitioners incorrectly presume that the trial court's definition is consistent with a "specific intent" to harm or kill Delmer Fields, arguing, "Respondents could never establish that Petitioners acted with specific intent to harm any individual. Accordingly, Respondents have failed as a matter of law" and that the standard requires "specific evidence that the defendant intended to kill or injure plaintiff of plaintiff's decedent." Pet. Br. p.8 and 4, respectively.

This is similar to the standard that Petitioners argued to the Circuit Court, akin to a first-degree, planned murder. However, the Circuit Court did not adopt Petitioners' standard: "Defendants request this Court to adopt a standard that is more fitting for a criminal standard of first-degree murder versus a civil standard of intentional conduct. This Court FINDS no law to support a finding of a standard proposed by Defendants of "evil intent" and therefore declines to adopt such a standard." Order JA 0213.

D. The definition of intentional conduct does not require a specific intent to kill Delmer Fields.

The Circuit Court was correct on this point. The COVID act is a civil statute, and nowhere does the act refer to any definitions contained in criminal law. The cases Petitioners cited to the Circuit Court do not require such a high standard, with nearly all of them defining malice, including actual

malice, to include reckless and willful disregard. See, e.g., Sprouse v. Clay Communications, Inc., 158 W. Va. 427, 427, 211 S.E.2d 674, 679 (1975). As another example, Petitioners Snyder and Jackson General in their briefing below relied on Black's Law Dictionary, claiming that its definition requires specific intent to injure Delmer Fields. However, actual malice is defined in Black's to also include recklessness: "The deliberate intent to commit an injury, as evidenced by external circumstances ... Knowledge (by the person who utters or publishes a defamatory statement) that a statement is false, or reckless disregard about whether the statement is true." ACTUAL MALICE, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019).

The definition of intentional conduct in civil cases is discussed Restatement (Second) of Torts § 8A (1965) as follows:

All consequences which the actor desires to bring about are intended, as the word is used in this Restatement. Intent is not, however, limited to consequences which are desired. If the actor knows that the consequences are certain, or substantially certain, to result from his act, and still goes ahead, he is treated by the law as if he had in fact desired to produce the result.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 8A (1965) (emphasis added.) *Accord*, *Funeral Servs. by Gregory*, *Inc. v. Bluefield Cmty. Hosp.*, 186 W. Va. 424, 427, 413 S.E.2d 79, 82 (1991), overruled on other grounds by *Courtney v. Courtney*, 190 W. Va. 126, 437 S.E.2d 436 (1993) "The word "intent" in the Restatement denotes that "the actor desires to cause the consequences of his act, *or* that he believes that the consequences are substantially certain to result from it."

This is precisely what occurred in this case. The Petitioners Eldercare and Snyder² knew that the consequences of their actions, fragile residents contracting COVID, was certain or substantially certain to occur. Respondents pleaded as such. Compl. 87-89, 93-95, 98, 105-107, 123, 154-163, 166-171. The Court certainly can infer this from the facts pleaded in the complaint.

E. The definition of malice does not require a specific intent to kill a person.

Likewise, the definition of malice does not require a specific intent to kill a person. The West

² Respondents further pleaded that Snyder was an agent, servant and/or employee of Jackson General and, therefore, Jackson General is liable for his wrongful conduct.

Virginia Supreme Court addressed the standard for malice in the long-standing case of *Raines v*.

Faulkner, 131 W. Va. 10, 17, 48 S.E.2d 393, 397 (1947), explaining where a defendant's conduct was "willfully committed with such reckless, wanton and criminal indifference and disregard of plaintiff's rights[,] the jury could infer malice therefrom." Raines v. Faulkner, 131 W. Va. 10, 17, 48 S.E.2d 393, 397 (1947). The term malice has been defined in the context of punitive damages by the West Virginia Supreme Court in the seminal case of TXO Production Corp. v. Alliance Resources

Corp., 187 W.Va. 457, 419 S.E.2d 870 (1992), where the Court stated:

Originally, punitive damages were awarded only to deter malicious and mean-spirited conduct. However, the punitive damages definition of malice has grown to include not only mean-spirited conduct, but also extremely negligent conduct that is likely to cause serious harm. . . .

TXO Production Corp., 419 S.E.2d at 887 (emphases added; footnote omitted).

The West Virginia Supreme Court discussed actual malice in the W.Va. Pattern Jury Instructions for Civil Cases: "Actual malice" may be found where you find [name of defendant] acted with a state of mind shown by conduct that was intended to or was substantially certain to injure [name of plaintiff], without any just cause or excuse. §1500 PUNITIVE DAMAGE, W.V. Pattern Jury Instr.

Civil. § 1500 (emphases added). The facts in Respondents' complaint, which must be considered true and construed liberally in favor of the Respondents, exceed the common law definition of malice under West Virginia law.

Even if the criminal definitions were used, "Malice is defined as the intent to kill, the intent to cause great bodily harm, or the intent to do an act in wanton and willful disregard of the likelihood that the natural tendency of such behavior is to cause death or great bodily harm." State v. Davis, 220 W. Va. 590, 594, 648 S.E.2d 354, 358 (2007) (emphasis added) (internal citation omitted). It does not require specific intent to kill a person. The conduct pleaded here constitutes a wanton and willful disregard of the likelihood of that conduct to cause death or great bodily harm.

In the Circuit Court, Snyder and Jackson General argued that actual malice is different than malice. However, the terms are not materially different. The United States Supreme Court defined actual malice in the historic case of *The New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 280, 84 S. Ct.

710, 726, 11 L. Ed. 2d 686 (1964), where the Supreme Court determined that for a publicly-known figure to succeed on a defamation claims, the public-figure plaintiff must show that the false, defaming statement was said with "actual malice." The Supreme Court expressly held that "actual malice" means that the defendant made a statement "with knowledge that it was false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false or not." *Id. Accord, Crump v. Beckley Newspapers, Inc.*, 173 W. Va. 699, 718, 320 S.E.2d 70, 90 (1983). This is what occurred in this case. Statements were made by Petitioners with knowledge that they were false and with reckless disregard of whether they were false or not, with deadly consequences.

Our Court has long held that statutes need to be applied to be consistent with and harmonize with existing law:

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